045

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

		K	
	DEC S		
CLERG Dy	K, SUPA	MAL C	OURT

ERIC A. KAPLAN,

Petitioner,

**CASE NO. 89,445** 

٧.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

On Notice To Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction To Review A Decision Of The Fifth District Court Of Appeal

### MR, KAPLAN'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

TERRENCE E. KEHOE LAW OFFICES OF TERRENCE E. KEHOE Tinker Building 18 West Pine Street Orlando, Florida 32801 407/422-4147 407/849-6059 (FAX)

CHANDLER R. MULLER LAW OFFICES OF CHANDLER R. MULLER, P.A. 1150 Louisiana Avenue Suite 2 Winter Park, Florida 32789 4071647-8200 407/645-3000 (FAX)

### **

### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

In this brief, the Petitioner, ERIC A. KAPLAN, will be referred to as "Mr. Kaplan. The Respondent, STATE OF **FLORIDA**, will be referred to as the "state." The Appendix attached to this brief will be referred to as "App.," followed by the appropriate page number. The record on appeal will be referred to by the letter "R", followed by the appropriate page number.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Mr. Kaplan was charged in a three count criminal information. Count I charged him with attempted first degree murder with a firearm, alternatively charging Mr. Kaplan with attempted first degree premeditated murder and attempted first degree felony murder. Count II charged him with armed burglary to a dwelling. Count III charged him with shooting into a building.

With the agreement **of** the state, a special verdict form was used as to Count **I**. This verdict form advised the jury as to Count I that it could convict Mr. Kaplan of one of the following: 1) attempted first degree premeditated murder (with or without a firearm), 2) attempted first degree felony murder (with or without a firearm), or 3) one of several lesser included offenses, or 4) find him not guilty (R **1411-18,1432-33**). There was no objection to that instruction or the verdict form which was submitted to the jury (R **1331**). In his closing argument, the prosecutor virtually abandoned the attempted first degree premeditated murder theory, arguing that the jury should return a verdict of attempted first degree felony murder (R **1335-37**). The jury gave the state what it asked

for, returning a verdict **of** guilty as to attempted first degree felony murder with a firearm. The state did not raise any claimed error in the instruction or verdict form below, and did not file any cross-appeal to the Fifth District on this point.

After the ten day jury trial, the jury also convicted Mr. Kaplan of armed burglary of a dwelling (Count 11), and shooting into a building (Count 111). He was sentenced to forty years in the Florida Department of Corrections on Count I, to be placed on probation after serving twenty-seven years, twenty-seven years on Count 11, and fifteen years on Count 111, all to run concurrently.

Mr. Kaplan appealed his conviction, raising three issues on appeal. In an opinion dated September 20, 1996, the Fifth District affirmed the judgments and sentences on Counts II and 111, but reversed the judgment and sentence on Count I (App. A). As to that count, the Fifth District panel majority reversed for a retrial on the charge of attempted first degree premeditated murder and any lesser included offense. Judge Sharp filed a dissent from the remand of Count 1. She would have remanded for a trial only on the lesser included offenses previously instructed, and not for the offense of attempted first degree premeditated murder.

On October **7**, **1996**, Mr. Kaplan filed a motion for rehearing, rehearing en banc, or certification to this Court (**App.** B). That motion was denied by order dated November 1, 1996 (**App.** C). **A** notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court was filed in the Fifth District on November **26**, **1996**.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE FIFTH DISTRICT'S DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL CONCERNING THE VACATION OF A CONVICTION FOR ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE FELONY MURDER

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, § (3) (B) 3, to review cases which directly and expressly conflict with opinions of this Court or other district courts of appeal on the same question of law. This Court must exercise its jurisdiction and accept Mr. Kaplan's case for review because the Fifth District's opinion expressly and directly conflicts with a number of this Court's and other appellate courts' decisions concerning the proper remedy after the vacation of a conviction for attempted first degree felony murder.

Contrary to decisions of this Court and other district courts **of** appeal, the Fifth District concluded that although Mr. Kaplan **was** convicted under a special verdict of attempted first degree felony murder, he could be retried on attempted first degree premeditated murder, as well **as** the applicable lesser included offenses. Also, contrary to decisions of this Court and other district courts **of** appeal, the Fifth District affirmed the sentences on Counts II and **111**, despite the fact that the single scoresheet used to score all three offenses included a large number **of** points attributable only to Count I. The vacation of Count I requires the vacation of the sentences of Counts II and 111, because those sentences were dependent upon the now-vacated conviction.

### **ARGUMENT**

THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE FIFTH DISTRICT'S DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL CONCERNING THE VACATION OF A CONVICTION FOR ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE FELONY MURDER.

The Fifth District applied a remedy to Mr. Kaplan which has not been applied to any other defendant in his position.

The written judgment and sentence clearly show that Mr. Kaplan was convicted of attempted first degree felony murder. In a number of cases decided in the last nineteen months, this Court has explicitly stated that upon vacation of a conviction for attempted first degree felony murder (or a conviction of an invalid lesser theory of attempted felony murder) the proper remedy is that the defendant can be retried only on any lesser included offense on which the jury was instructed at the defendant's initial trial. Contrary to the unambiguous precedent of this Court, the Fifth District did not remand for a retrial solely on the lesser offenses, but has exposed Mr. Kaplan to a retrial on the theory of attempted first degree premeditated murder. Because of the direct conflict with this Court's and other Florida appellate precedents, this Court must accept this case for review.

In <u>State v. Gray</u>, **654** So.2d 552 (Fla. 1995), this Court ruled that the offense of attempted felony murder no longer existed in Florida. <u>Id</u>. at **554**. Because Gray had

been convicted of attempted first degree felony murder, this Court affirmed the Third District's reversal of that conviction. <u>Id</u>.

Subsequently, in <u>State v. Wilson</u>, **680 So.2d 411** (Fla. 1996), this Court answered the question as to the state's remedy in a case in which <u>Gray</u> mandated vacation of an attempted first degree felony murder conviction. **As** stated in <u>Wilson</u>, the proper remedy is to remand to the trial court for retrial on any <u>lesser</u> offenses instructed on at trial. <u>Id</u>. at **412-13.** <u>Wilson</u> does not state that some convictions for attempted first degree felony murder are to be treated one way, and some to be treated another way. The rule is straightforward: **a** retrial is permitted only on any lesser offense instructed at the initial trial.

This Court's opinions since Wilson, have consistently reiterated that the proper remedy for vacation of a conviction for an attempted felony murder is retrial on any lesser offense instructed on at the initial trial. See e.g., State v. Pratt, So.2d \_\_\_\_ (Fla. 11/14/96)[21 Fla. L. Weekly S492]; State v. Wilev, \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_ (Fla. 11/14/96)[21 Fla. L. Weekly S492]; State v. Gibson, \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_ (Fla. 10/24/96)[21 Fla. L. Weekly S465]; State v. Lee, 676 So.2d 1365 (Fla. 1996); State v. Alfonso, 676 So.2d 1365 (Fla. 1996). The district courts to have ruled on this issue since Wilson have applied that same remedy. See Bateman v. State, \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_ (Fla. 2d DCA 10/11/96)[21 Fla. L. Weekly D2211]; Carrazana v. State, 678 So.2d 6 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996).

The <u>Kaplan</u> decision also directly and expressly conflicts with the <u>Bateman</u> decision, issued three weeks after <u>Kaplan</u>. In <u>Bateman</u>, like <u>Kaplan</u>, the defendant was charged with attempted first degree felony murder either with premeditated design or in the commission of a felony. The jury was instructed on both theories of attempted first degree murder. 21 Fla. L. Weekly at D2211. Based on <u>Gray</u> and <u>Wilson</u>, the defendant's conviction for attempted first degree felony murder was vacated and remanded for retrial only on the lesser included offenses. In direct contrast to <u>Kaplan</u>, the defendant in <u>Bateman</u> was not exposed on remand to possible conviction for the offense of attempted first degree premeditated murder,

Additionally, the <u>Kaplan</u> majority opinion conflicts with the one case it cites to support it: <u>Bowers v. State</u>, **676** So.2d 1060 (Fla. **4th DCA 1996)'.** In <u>Bowers</u>, there was not a special verdict as to the charge of attempted first degree murder with a deadly weapon. Instead, the jury was instructed on both the premeditation and felony murder theories, and returned a general verdict **of** guilty as to attempted first degree murder. <u>Id</u>. at 1061. The Fourth District remanded for a retrial on the theory **of** attempted first degree premeditated murder. However, the Fourth District held that remedy was proper because it was <u>impossible</u> to determine which theory the jury used to convict the defendant. <u>Id</u>. The result in <u>Bowers</u> obviously would have been different **if** the Fourth District could determine on which theory the verdict rested. In <u>Kaplan</u>, due to the special

<sup>1</sup> Bowers does not cite or discuss Wilson, which was decided two weeks earlier.

verdict form, the court and all parties know that the verdict rested solely on the theory of attempted first degree felony murder. <u>Kaplan</u> therefore does not even follow or accept, and in fact conflicts with, the logic of <u>Bowers</u>, the sole case cited to support the remand for a retrial on attempted first degree premeditated murder.

There is no reason for Mr. Kaplan to **be** treated differently from the other defendants. **He** too is entitled to face a retrial only on the applicable lesser included offenses, and not on the charge of attempted first degree premeditated murder on which he **was** implicitly acquitted by the jury. Besides violating the <u>Gray/Wilson</u> line of cases, such a retrial would violate the state and federal constitutional prohibitions against double jeopardy. <u>See App. A</u> (Sharp, J., dissenting).

\* \* \*

The Fifth District's decision also conflicts with <u>Gray</u> and its progeny in another respect. The Fifth District's opinion affirmed the convictions and sentences on Counts II and III. However, those sentences were based on a single sentencing guideline scoresheet which included points scored for Count I. Absent the points scored for Count I, the recommended and permitted guideline ranges on the sentencing scoresheet would have been far lower. The sentences actually imposed by the trial court on Counts II and III would far exceed the permitted and recommended sentencing guideline ranges if the points for Count I are eliminated. Therefore, upon vacation of Count I due to a <u>Gray</u> error, the Fifth District was also required the vacate the sentences on Counts II and III for recomputation of Mr. Kaplan's scoresheet and for resentencing on those two counts.

See e.g., State v. Miller, 660 So.2d 272 (Fla. 1995), aff'g Miller v. State, 651 So.2d 1313 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995)(other conviction remanded for resentencing in light of reversal based upon Grav); State v. Gray, 654 So.2d 552, 554 (Fla. 1995); Bramlett v. State, 677 So.2d 962 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); Johnson v. State, 669 So.2d 1070 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996); Crystal v. State, 657 So.2d 77 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995)(Gray reversal of one count required remand for resentencing on remaining counts due to recomputation of sentencing guidelines scoresheet). Even if this Court does not reverse the Fifth District's decision as to Count I, this Court must accept jurisdiction to bring Kaplan in line with the above-established caselaw on the effect of a Gray reversal on the sentences of other counts scored under a single scoresheet.

<sup>2</sup> On this point, for some inexplicable reason the Fifth District's decision is contrary to its own prior decisions in <u>Selway v. State</u>, 660 So.2d **1176** (Fla. 5th **DCA** 1995); <u>Valladares v. State</u>, 658 So.2d 626 (**Fla.** 5th DCA 1995).

### CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities set forth in this brief, this Court must grant Mr. Kaplan's petition for review, and order briefing on the merits.