ORIGINAL

FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAN 2 1997

CIF Clerk

ERIC KAPLAN,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 89,445

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

JURISDICTIONAL RRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KRISTEN L. DAVENPORT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #909130 444 Seabreeze Blvd. Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should decline to accept jurisdiction of this case. None of the cases cited by Kaplan expressly and directly conflict with the decision of the court below, as they all involve different factual scenarios.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO ACCEPT JURISDICTION OF THIS CASE.

In this case, Kaplan argues that the district court's decision conflicts with numerous decisions of this Court and other district courts. This argument must be rejected, as all of the cases cited by Kaplan involve factual scenarios different from the case at bar.

Kaplan first argues that the district court's decision conflicts with ,State v. Wilson., 680 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 1996), and its progeny. In <u>Wilson</u>, this Court addressed the proper remedy to be applied where a defendant has been prosecuted <u>solelv</u> under an attempted felony murder theory. In fact, in addressing this issue this Court specifically noted that the jury in that case had <u>not</u> been instructed on attempted premeditated murder. <u>Id</u>. at 412.

Here, in contrast, Kaplan was charged with attempted murder under <u>both</u> a premeditation and a felony murder theory, and the jury was instructed on each. This case does not fall under the <u>Wilson</u> line of cases and therefore does not conflict with such cases.

Because Kaplan's case was pursued under <u>both</u> an invalid theory (attempted felony murder) valid and а theory (attempted premeditated murder), the appropriate remedy differs somewhat from the remedy in cases where only an invalid theory was pursued. Tn each situation retrial is ordered on the valid offenses instructed on at trial, but in cases where premeditation was one of the valid offenses this charge too is available for retrial -- not just the "lesser" offenses. The district courts around the state have uniformly applied this remedy on numerous occasions. <u>See, e.q.</u>, Thompson v. State, 667 So. 2d 470 (Fla, 3d DCA 1996); Harris v. .State, 658 So. 2d 1226 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). The district court followed these cases here.

Kaplan also argues that the district court's decision conflicts with the opinion in Bowers v. State, 676 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). In fact, the opinion reflects that the court in <u>Kaplan</u> actually followed the decision in <u>Fnwers</u>. 21 Fla. L. Wkly. at D2090.

In <u>Bowers</u>, the jury was instructed on both theories of attempted murder -- premeditation and felony. During deliberations, the jury asked how to list their verdict under the felony murder theory rather than premeditated murder, and the court responded by rereading the instructions on that count. The jury then returned with a verdict of guilty.

Following the line of cases involving dual theories, the district court reversed and remanded for retrial on the charge of attempted premeditated murder. <u>Rowers</u>, 676 So. 2d at 1061. The **Kaplar** court cited this case and agreed with its result. Because it was impossible to determine what the jury thought of the attempted premeditated murder theory in either case, in each case a retrial was ordered on this charge.

Kaplan finally argues that the district court's decision conflicts with the decision in <u>Bateman v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Wkly. D2211 (Fla. 2d DCA Oct. 11, 1996). There, the court remanded for retrial on lesser offenses where the jury was instructed under both theories and 'convicted the defendant of attempted felony murder." On the face of this opinion, there is no conflict.

In <u>Kaplan</u>, the district court specifically found that while the jury returned a verdict of guilty of attempted felony murder, given the rest of the jury instructions it simply could not find

that by this verdict the jury had also implicitly acquitted Kaplan of attempted premeditated murder. 21 Fla. L. Wkly. at D2089-90. The jury could just as easily have found that both theories were proven, but it was precluded by the instructions from making this finding known. Accordingly, under these unique circumstances the verdict was essentially the equivalent of a general verdict of guilt, and remand was appropriate under the dual theory cases.

The court in <u>Bateman</u> may have addressed a situation with **a** similar jury instruction precluding a finding under both theories, and it may have found that such an instruction did not affect its analysis and the verdict still represented a rejection of premeditation. On the other hand, the jury in <u>Bateman</u> may have actually had the option of choosing both theories and made a specific finding that premeditation had not been proven. It is simply impossible to tell from the face of the opinion.

Given the absence of facts in the opinion in <u>Bateman</u>, it is impossible to determine whether the unique factual circumstances upon which the opinion in <u>Kaplan</u> is based were applicable there as well. Accordingly, there is no conflict between the two cases.

Kaplan finally argues that the district court's decision conflicts with numerous cases because it fails to remand for resentencing on the other two counts. In each of the cases cited

by Kaplan the attempted murder conviction was simply reversed, with no mention of any retrial possibility. In such circumstances resentencing is obviously necessary for the other offenses.

In this case, however, a retrial has been ordered as to count I. While resentencing may be necessary at some point in the future, it would be inappropriate to order such resentencing until final resolution of the charges in count I of this criminal transaction. Should Kaplan be convicted once again after retrial on this charge, his current scoresheet will be correct -- with counts II and III scored as additional offenses at conviction. If Kaplan is ultimately acquitted of count I, or convicted of a lesser offense, then, and only then, a new scoresheet would be appropriate.

The district court's decision is based on the unique circumstances of this case, and there is no express and direct conflict with any of the cases cited by Kaplan. This Court should therefore decline to accept jurisdiction of this case.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, respondent respectfully requests this honorable Court decline to accept jurisdiction of this case.